Aus dem Zentrum für Neuropathologie und Prionforschung der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Vorstand: Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h.c. H. A. Kretzschmar

The role of β 1-Integrin in the cerebellar development and the formation of medulloblastoma

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

> vorgelegt von Alexandra Frick aus Tuttlingen Jahr 2013

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

| Berichterstatter: | PD Dr. med. Ulrich Schüller |
|-----------------------------|--|
| Mitberichterstatter: | PD Dr. med. Aurelia Peraud Prof. DrIng. Dr. med. Florian Kolb |
| Dekan: | Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h.c. M. Reiser, FACR, FRCR |
| Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: | 24.01.2013 |

Major parts of this work have been published as:

Proper cerebellar development requires expression of β1-Integrin in Bergmann glia, but not in granule neurons

A. Frick, D. Grammel, F. Schmidt, J. Pöschl, M. Priller, P. Pagella, A. O. von Bueren, A. Peraud, J.-C. Tonn, J. Herms, S. Rutkowski, H. A. Kretzschmar, U. Schüller

Glia 2012;60(5):820-32

Contents

| 1. Introduction | 5 |
|---|--------|
| 1.1. Adhesion receptor β 1-Integrin | 5 |
| 1.2. Cerebellar Development | 7 |
| 1.3 Medulloblastoma | 9 |
| 1.4. Aim of this study12 | 2 |
| 2. Material and Methods13 | 3 |
| 2.1. Mouse Lines, Genotyping, and Analysis of Recombination | 3 |
| 2.1.1. <i>Itgb1^{FI/FI}</i> mice | 3 |
| 2.1.2. <i>Math1</i> -cre mice | 4 |
| 2.1.3. <i>SmoM2^{FI/FI}</i> mice | 4 |
| 2.1.4. <i>hGFAP-cre</i> mice: | 6 |
| 2.1.5. Genotyping of mice | 6 |
| 2.2. Patients and Tumor Samples1 | 7 |
| 2.3. RNA Extraction and Real-Time PCR19 | 9 |
| 2.4. Histology and Immunohistochemistry2 | 1 |
| 2.5. Western Blot analysis2 | 1 |
| 2.6. Statistical Analysis22 | 2 |
| 3. Results | 3 |
| 3.1. Expression of β 1-Integrins in Cerebellar Granule Neuron Precursors | 3 |
| 3.2. Expression of β1-Integrin in Shh-induced mouse medulloblastoma and human medulloblastoma | n 6 |
| 3.3. Expression of β 1-Integrins in Glia of the cerebellum | 1 |
| 4. Discussion | 7 |
| 5. Summary40 | 0 |
| 5.1. Summary40 | 0 |
| 5.2. Zusammenfassung40 | 0 |
| 6. References | 2 |
| 7. Acknowledgements | 7 |

1. Introduction

1.1. Adhesion receptor β**1-Integrin**

 β 1-Integrin, a subunit of the Integrin receptor family, plays a key role as a regulator of both development biology and the formation of cancer (Brakebusch et al. 1997; Fassler and Meyer 1995; Lahlou and Müller 2011; Morello et al. 2011; Stephens et al. 1995; White et al. 2004).

In general an Integrin consists of one α and one β subunit (Hynes 2002). 18 different α subunits and 8 different β subunits, which form 24 Integrin heterodimers, have been found in organisms. Remarkably, 12 of these Integrin heterodimers contain the β 1-Integrin subunit (Hynes 2002). This fact emphasizes its great importance additionally to its ubiquitous expression.



Figure 1 (Modified from (Weinberg 2007)) Schematic structure of Integrins. The α subunit (blue) and the β subunit (red) form a heterodimer of Integrin, a transmembrane adhesion cell receptor, spanning the cell membrane once. The outer domain of the Integrin attaches the cell to components of extracellular matrix (ECM) or adjacent cells. The intracellular domain of Integrin mediates the connection to the cytoskeleton by linking proteins.

A special feature of Integrins is their ability to signal bidirectionally (Hynes 2002) without being enzymatically active (Liu et al. 2000). Integrins are involved in

proliferation, apoptosis, migration and differentiation processes of cells (Hu and Luo 2012; Hynes 2002).

These are essential steps of developmental biology and as formerly shown, β 1-Integrin is crucial for the early development of the mouse embryo. Mice with a homozygous, constitutive knockout of β 1-Integrin die around E6.5 (embryonic age day 6.5) because of degenerative growth of the inner cell mass of the blastocyst (Brakebusch et al. 1997; Fassler and Meyer 1995; Stephens et al. 1995).

In further development of the organism β 1-Integrin is critical especially in the formation of mammary gland (Klinowska et al. 1999; Li et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2000; Naylor et al. 2005) and the development of the skeletal muscle (Brakebusch et al. 1997; Burkin et al. 2001; Schwander et al. 2003).

The fact that β 1-Integrin is also important for the development of the cerebral and cerebellar cortex is of special interest for this research project (Belvindrah et al. 2007; Blaess et al. 2004; Dulabon et al. 2000; Graus-Porta et al. 2001; Rice and Curran 2001).

Breast cancer is a prime example that β 1-Integrin is not only decisive in developmental processes but also in cancer formation (Lahlou and Müller 2011). In a genetically modified mouse model, White et al. showed that β 1-Integrin is responsible for the induction and maintenance of breast cancer (White et al. 2004). Moreover, increased β 1-Integrin expression is correlated with a poor survival of human breast cancer patients. According to this, it may serve as a prognostic factor for these patients (Yao et al. 2007).

In several studies it was shown that β 1-Integrin has also notable effects on tumor recurrence, survival, progression and metastasis and is suggested to be a target for cancer therapies (Barkan and Chambers 2011; Cordes and Park 2007; Morello et al. 2011; Park et al. 2006).

1.2. Cerebellar Development

The adult cerebellum is organized in a well-defined, cortical laminar structure with only three layers (Palay and Chan-Palay 1974)(Figure 2).



Figure 2 (modified from (Hatten 1999; Tanaka et al. 2008)) Schematic and simplified cross section of the adult cerebellar cortex consisting of three layers with the relevant cell types for this study. The granule layer contains the cerebellar granule neurons (blue), the Purkinje cell layer contains the Purkinje cells (red) and between them are the Bergmann glia cells located (green). The molecular layer contains the T-shaped parallel fibers of granule neurons, the dendritic arborisation of Purkinje cells and the Bergmann glia fibers.

The cells of the CNS can be broadly divided into glial cells and neuronal cells, both differentiate from multipotential neural progenitor cells (Edlund and Jessell 1999). This study about cerebellar development focuses especially on cerebellar granule neurons and Bergmann glia.

The cerebellar granule neuron is by far the most common cell type in the adult cerebellum and forms the innermost granule layer. The following Purkinje cell layer is a monolayer of fan-shaped Purkinje neurons with dentritic arborisation (Palay and Chan-Palay 1974) (Figure 2). The cell bodies of the Bergmann glia lie in the region of the cell bodies of Purkinje cells and their fibers pass the outermost molecular layer to the pial surface (Grosche et al. 2002; Welsch 2006). In addition to the Bergmann glial fibers also the processes of the cerebellar granule neurons, the parallel fibers, and the dentric arborisation of the Purkinje cells extend into the molecular layer (Figure 2).

At the first glance the histological structure of the cerebellar cortex seems quite simple, even more notable is that the function of the cerebellum is more complex than previously assumed. In addition to the well-known motor coordination and control functions of the human cerebellum, its contribution in higher cognitive functions is also suggested by observation of clinical cases and fMRI studies (Fiez 1996; Ramnani 2006).

The cerebellum develops in highly organized processes of proliferation, differentiation, migration and forming circuitry of cells (Altman J 1997). The fourth ventricle is located dorsal of the developing embryo and forms a rhomboid-shaped gap in the neural tube. The fourth ventricle is bordered on its outer edge by the rhombic lip. Rostral from the fourth ventricle the cerebellar anlage is generated. Purkinje cells and inhibitory interneurons originate from the ventricular zone above the fourth ventricle. Then the postmitotic Purkinje cell precursors migrate along the emerging radial glial fibers into the interior of the developing cerebellar anlage and arrange in a monolayer (Misson et al. 1988). Meanwhile the cerebellar granule neuron precursors (CGNPs) arise from the upper rhombic lip proliferate there and move rostral to cover the cerebellar anlage in order to form there the external granule layer (EGL) (reviewed in (Hatten 1999; Hatten and Heintz 1995; Ten Donkelaar and Lammens 2009)). There the CGNPs proliferate enormously, approximately until the second week postnatal (Hatten and Heintz 1995; Miale and Sidman 1961; Roussel and Hatten 2011). During this phase, the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) protein, produced by Purkinje cells, is the major mitogen for CGNPs. If the EGL has reached its maximum thickness of about 8 cells, during further proliferation of the CGNPs the thickness of the EGL does not change, rather the horizontal extent of the EGL increases (Fujita 1967; Fujita et al. 1966). Then the EGL begins to decrease because postmitotic CGNPs differentiate and migrate along the Bergmann glial fibers below the Purkinje cell layer and form there the very compact internal granule layer (IGL). While they are migrating, the granule cells leave their extending axon, the T-shaped parallel fibers, behind in the molecular layer (Gao and Hatten 1993; Gao and Hatten 1994; Hatten and Heintz 1995). According to the observation that CGNPs adhere to and migrate along the Bergmann glial fibers on the way to their final position in the internal granule layer (IGL), it is supposed that adhesion receptors like \beta1-Integrin may be involved in these processes (Fishman and Hatten 1993; Hatten and Heintz 1995).

In the terminal stage of cerebellar granule neuron differentiation, the cerebellar circuit network establishes and cerebellar granule neurons connect with mossy fibers and the dentritic arborisation of Purkinje cells (Hatten and Heintz 1995).

The knowledge of the development of the cerebellar cortex is obtained mainly by investigation on mutant mice, the prototype for this studies is the reeler mouse (Hatten and Heintz 1995; Rice and Curran 1999). The reeler mouse is lacking reelin, a product of the *reeler* gene and mostly secreted by Cajal Retzius cells in the marginal zone. It is supposed that reelin modulates the neuronal-radial glial interplay and it was shown that reelin inhibits the neuronal migration. The result of the disruption of the *reeler* gene is an abnormal development of the cerebellum and cerebrum. The cerebellum, with a perturbated lamination, is reduced in size and the different cell layers of the cerebrum seem to be inverted. *In vitro* studies of Dulabon et al. connote the binding of Reelin to β 1-Integrin and *In Vivo* experiments indicate that α 3 β 1-Integrin is responsible for the proper function of reelin (Dulabon et al. 2000; Rice and Curran 1999).

Furthermore, in a genetically modified mouse model lacking β 1-Integrin in neural progenitors were observed laminar disorganization of cerebellar granule neurons and the fusion of folia in the cerebellum and of hemispheres of the cerebrum. These abnormalities were suggested to be caused by disorders in the marginal zone (Graus-Porta et al. 2001). In the same mouse model a decreased size of the cerebellum was observed, Blaess et al. supposed that β 1-Integrin may be critical for the proliferation of CGNPs (Blaess et al. 2004). In a further study Belvindrah et al. showed that β 1-Integrin in radial glia is required for the proper lamination of the cerebral cortex (Belvindrah et al. 2007) and reactive gliosis in the forebrain was observed in a mouse model with a loss of β 1-Integrin in glia (Robel et al. 2009). However, the specific role of β 1-Integrin in glia and CGNPs in the cerebellar development is unknown.

1.3 Medulloblastoma

Medulloblastomas are a biological and clinical heterogeneous group of embryonal tumors arising in the cerebellum (Roussel and Hatten 2011) or brainstem (Gibson et al. 2010; Grammel et al. 2012). Besides leukemia, medulloblastoma is one of the most common malignancies in childhood.

A good knowledge of the cerebellar development is required in order to understand the formation of medulloblastoma. Mutations and deregulations of genes and pathways that are crucial for a correct cerebellar development can lead to its formation (Gibson et al. 2010; Roussel and Hatten 2011). Well investigated pathways of cerebellar development are the wingless pathway (WNT-pathway) and sonic hedgehog pathway (SHH-pathway), which show abnormal activation in medulloblastomas. Recently, these pathways gained on significance in molecular identification of the four distinct subgroups of medulloblastomas by the application of whole-genome and other

sequencing techniques (Kool et al. 2012; Northcott et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2012). The WNT and SHH tumors represent two of these four genetic different subgroups. The other 2 subgroups, called the Group 3 and the Group 4, are molecularly not that well defined (Kool et al. 2012; Taylor et al. 2012)(Figure 3).



Figure 3 (Taylor et al. 2012) The current consensus of molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma. Four distinct molecular subgroups were identified through transcriptional profiling studies from several research groups around the world. This overview summarizes the clinical, demographic and genetic data of the four subtypes. LCA= large cell/anaplastic tumors.

However, medulloblastoma are still diagnosed according to the criteria of the 2007 WHO classification of brain tumors (Louis et al. 2007) in clinical practice. Based on histological und immunhistochemical methods there are classic, desmoplastic, extensive nodular and large cell medulloblastomas. All subtypes of medulloblastoma are classified as tumors of highest malignancy, WHO grade IV (Louis et al. 2007).

Besides the progress with respect to the molecular classification of the medulloblastoma, the cell of origin is another important topic of recent medulloblastoma research. In mice, the SHH-associated medulloblastomas may arise from CGNPs in the upper rhombic lip (Schüller et al. 2008) or cochlear granule neuron precursors (Grammel et al. 2012) and the Wnt-associated tumors may arise from pontine grey

neuronal progenitors within the lower rhombic lip and the dorsal brain stem (Gibson et al. 2010).

Assuming that a medulloblastoma originates from immature neuronal cells, also the statistics of it reflects the fact that this is a typical embryonal tumor. The percentage of embryonal brain tumors including medulloblastomas compared to all primary brain tumors decreases from 15.1% in childhood (Ages 0-14) to 4.3% in adolescent (Ages 15-19) to 1.9% in adults (Ages 20-34) (CBTRUS 2012). 50% of all medulloblastomas occur in children under 5 years (Kaatsch et al. 2001). Furthermore, medulloblastomas have a strong tendency for dissemination through the cerebrospinal fluid in the leptomeningeal space (Gajjar et al. 2006; Wu et al. 2012). Therefore, the age of the patient at diagnosis, the dissemination of the primary tumor and the extent of residual disease after primary resection are important to make a statement about the prognosis and to determine which therapy is applied. Currently, this risk stratification and the subsequent therapies are more and more adapted to the molecular-based classification and the results of recent studies. Formerly, children under 3 years were considered as high risk patients with poor prognosis. In recent studies it was shown, that 65% of medulloblastomas in infants under 3 years of age are tumors of the SHH subgroup with predominantly desmoplastic histology (Northcott et al. 2011; Ramaswamy et al. 2011). Infants with a medullblastoma of this subgroup have good prognosis with postoperative chemotherapy alone (Ramaswamy et al. 2011; Rutkowski et al. 2005; von Bueren et al. 2011). In contrast young children with a medulloblastoma of Group 3 have a very poor prognosis and respond poorly to current therapies (Northcott et al. 2011; Ramaswamy et al. 2011).

In the standard therapy of medulloblastoma the aim of the surgical therapy is to resect the medulloblastoma totally, and in order to reduce the probability of a possible metastasis, the whole craniospinal axis is irradiated. In addition, a chemotherapy is performed (Roussel and Hatten 2011). The therapy can be adapted according to the risk of the patient. Despite enormous advances in diagnostics and therapies, the 5-year overall survival rate is still ~70% and surviving patients suffer from irreversible neurological and cognitive problems caused by the treatment. Therefore, it is important to improve therapies and develop more targeted therapies and molecular markers for diagnostics of medulloblastoma patients. One major advance in targeted therapies referring medulloblastomas was the discovery of the hedgehog-pathway inhibitor, called Vismodigib or GDC-0049, which is already included in a clinical study (Roussel and Robinson 2011; Rudin et al. 2009).

However, additional molecular targets for therapy and diagnostic markers are required. The role of β 1-Integrin in medulloblastoma is unknown, but it displays an interesting candidate to fulfill this functions. Therefore the supporting facts for this assumption are summarized:

A critical role of β 1-Integrin was suggested for the development of the cerebrum and cerebellum and for the proliferation of CGNPs (Blaess et al. 2004; Graus-Porta et al. 2001), which may give rise to medulloblastoma (Schüller et al. 2008).

Apart from its role in developmental biology, β 1-Integrin has a crucial role in tumorgenesis, what has been demonstrated most clearly through breast cancer research (Lahlou and Müller 2011; White et al. 2004; Yao et al. 2007).

1.4. Aim of this study

The first aim of this study is to specify the role of β 1 Integrin in CGNPs and glial cells during cerebellar development.

To clarify this, conditional knockout mouse models were used, where β 1-Integrin was selectively inactivated once in CGNPs and once in glia cells.

The second aim of this study is to investigate the role of β 1-Integrin in the formation of medulloblastoma and if it could serve as a prognostic marker for medulloblastoma patients. Therefore, another conditional knockout mouse model was used to generate a Shh-associated medulloblastoma and delete conditionally β 1-Integrin from these tumors. Since the Shh-associated medulloblastomas in this mouse model are derived from CGNPs (Schüller et al. 2008), additionally this experiment supports the first aim to specify the role of β 1-Integrin in CGNPs.

Furthermore, to learn more about the clinical relevance of β 1-Integrin in medulloblastomas, the expression levels of *ITGB1* (human β 1-Integrin gene) was analyzed with relative, quantitative, real-time, reverse transcriptase (RT)–PCR in human medulloblastoma samples and this data were correlated with clinical parameters.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Mouse Lines, Genotyping, and Analysis of Recombination

Itgb1^{FI/FI} (Raghavan et al. 2000), SmoM2^{FI/FI} (Mao et al. 2006), and hGFAP-cre mice (Zhuo et al. 2001) were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbour, ME).

2.1.1. *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice

A constitutive gene knockout of β 1-Integrin in mice leads to a lethal phenotype, because of its essential relevance for the development (Fassler and Meyer 1995; Gaveriaux-Ruff and Kieffer 2007). To disrupt the function of β 1-Integrin only in a special cellular compartment to a determined time, a Cre-LoxP system was used to generate conditional knockout mice.

Therefore in the β 1-Integrin gene, of the used mouse mode,I two LoxP sites are flanking Exon 3. This is called a floxed β 1-Integrin gene (Figure 4).





The loxP sites are short sequences of 34bps (base pairs) and show the Cre recombinase where to recombine. As a consequence of the recombination the gene segment between the two LoxP sites will be recombined and removed.

The Cre-mediated recombination of the *ltgb1* (mouse β 1-Integrin gene) allele was analyzed by PCR using the following primers in a triple-primer procedure (Figure 4):

Itgb1 Fw (Forward), 5'-CGCAGAACAATAGGTGCTGAAATTAC-3',

Itgb1 Rv (Reverse) 1, 5'-GCCCTGCTTGTATACATTCTCCG-3',

Itgb1 Rv 2, 5'-CCACAACTTTCCCAGTTAGCTCTC-3'.

2.1.2. Math1-cre mice

The Cre recombinase is a tool used in targeted gene modification, it was first discovered and isolated from bacteriophage P1 (Sauer and Henderson 1988; Sternberg et al. 1981). The expression of the Cre recombinase is spaciotemporarily controlled by a promotor or an enhancer sequence (Gaveriaux-Ruff and Kieffer 2007). To specifically express the Cre recombinase in CGNPs, the 1.4kB upstream *Math1* enhancer element was used in the mouse model for this study (Matei et al. 2005; Schüller et al. 2007). The *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice were crossed with *Math1*-cre mice to generate *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/F}* and *Math1*-cre::*Itgb1^{FI/F}* to delete β 1-Integrin selectively in CGNPs.

2.1.3. SmoM2^{FI/FI} mice

Smoothened (Smo) is a transmembrane protein of the Sonic hedgehog (Shh) signaling pathway. If the Sonic hedgehog pathway functions properly during developmental processes, the Sonic hedgehog protein binds to an extracellular domain of the Patched receptor and releases its inhibition of the Smoothened protein. This activation of Smoothened results in the expression of several genes (Ho and Scott 2002; Schüller et al. 2007), which are also responsible for the regulation of CGNPs and their proliferation in the EGL (Wechsler-Reya and Scott 1999)(Figure 5).



Figure 5 (modified from (Weinberg 2007)) The sonic hedgehog pathway. The Patched receptor (blue) is a transmembrane protein with 12 membrane-spanning domains and inhibits the Smoothened receptor (orange), a second transmembrane receptor spanning the membrane seven times. If the sonic hedgehog (Shh)(light green) protein binds to the extracellular domain of the Patched receptor, it will relieve the inhibition of Smoothened. Smoothened then sets in motion a intracellular signal cascade, including transcription factors to activate target genes of Sonic hedgehog for proliferation.

If Smoothened carries a point mutation with the subsequent amino acid exchange W539L, the Smoothened protein and the sonic hedgehog pathway will be activated

autonomously and constitutive, this mutation is called the *SmoM2* (Mao et al. 2006; Xie et al. 1998).

A stop sequence, consisting of a polyadenylation casette (4xpA) is located upstream of *SmoM2* to avoid ubiquitous expression of this oncogene. Additionally this stop sequence is floxed to remove it by a Cre recombinase and control the expression of *SmoM2* conditionally (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Simplified schematic structure of the *SmoM2^{FL/FL}* gene, with a floxed STOP (red box) sequence, consisting of a polyadenylation cassette upstream of the *SmoM2* (yellow box) oncogene.

Itgb1^{FI/FI} mice, *Math1*-cre mice and $SmoM2^{FI/FI}$ mice were crossed according to the following scheme in Figure 7 to receive the *Math1-cre::SmoM2^{FI/+}* (control mice), *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} SmoM2^{FI/+}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/+}SmoM2^{FI/+}* mice.



Figure 7 Crossing scheme to receive *Math1-cre::SmoM2*^{FI/+} (control mice), *Math1-cre::Itgb1*^{FI/FI} SmoM2^{FI/+} and *Math1-cre::Itgb1*^{FI/+}SmoM2^{FI/+} mice.

For genotyping to proof the *SmoM2* allel and the wild type allel the following primers were used:

SmoM2 Fw, 5'- AAGTTCATCTGCACCACCG -3'; SmoM2 Rv, 5'-TCCTTGAAGAAGATGGTGCG -3'; Smo WT Fw, 5'-GGAGCGGGAGAAATGGATATG-3'; Smo WT Rv, 5'-CGTGATCTGCAACTCCAGTC -3' (Jeong et al., 2004; Soriano, 1999).

Mice suspected to develop a tumor according to their genotype with a *Math1*-cre plus a *SmoM2* allele, were observed for neurological symptoms and general weakness twice a day.

2.1.4. hGFAP-cre mice:

The human glial fibrillary acidic protein (*hGFAP*) promotor sequence was used to control the expression of the Cre recombinase in glial cells of the transgenic mice in this study (Zhuo 2001). The genotyping for these mice was done with this primers: hGFAP-cre Fw 5'-ACTCCTTCATAAAGCCCTCG-3',

hGFAP-cre Rv 5'-ATCACTCGTTGCATCGACCG-3' (Zhuo et al. 2001). *hGFAP-cre* mice were crossed with *ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice to generate *hGFAP*-cre::*ltgb1*^{FI/FI} and *hGFAP*-cre::*ltgb1*^{FI/FI} mice.

2.1.5. Genotyping of mice

To identify the genotype of the mice aforementioned, a PCR was performed of genomic DNA extracted from mouse tail biopsies. 300 µl lyses buffer (100 mM Tris pH 8.5; 5 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 0.2% SDS (filtered), 200 mM NaCl) and 10 µl of Proteinase K (10mg/ml) were added to the mouse tail. This solution digested the mouse tail for at least 2 hours at 55°C. After this time, the equal volume of UltraPureTM Phenol:Chloroform:Isoamyl Alcohol (25:24:1, v/v; from Invitrogen) was added and shaken for 15 minutes. Then this solution was fuged with 13.000 x g for 15 min at room temperature, to extract the top layer containing the DNA in a new tube. To precipitate the DNA, 50 µl 3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and 1 ml of cold 95% ethanol were added. Than this solution was centrifugated with 13.000 x g at 4°C for 10 min. Liquid was discarded and the remaining liquid was removed with pipeman. The pellet was washed with 800 µl 70% Ethanol and mixed carefully and fuged another time with 13.000 x g at

4°C for 10 minutes. Then DNA pellet was dissolved in 100 μ l DEPC (Diethylpyrocarbonate) water and stored at 4°C.

2.2. Patients and Tumor Samples

Overall, 37 surgical tumor samples from patients with medulloblastoma were analyzed. Patients included 22 males (58.5%) and 15 females (41.5%). They were treated at the University Hospital of Munich, Göttingen, Bremen, Hanover and Münster (all Germany). The majority of the patients with medulloblastoma were enrolled in the prospective multicenter trials of the German Society of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology. The median age of medulloblastoma patients was 7 years (range 0.7-39.7 years). The follow-up of survivors was 35.3 months (range 2.5-175.6 months). Up to the date of September 1st 2010, eleven of these patients succumbed the disease and 26 of them survived. The study included 1 anaplastic medulloblastoma, 22 medulloblastomas of classic histology, 10 medulloblastomas of desmoplastic histology, and 4 medulloblastomas with extensive nodularity. Detailed patient characteristics are given in Table 1. The tumors were diagnosed by standard light microscopic examination of hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections and silver stains. In accordance with the WHO brain tumor classification (Louis et al. 2007) the tumors were diagnosed independently by at least two neuropathologists. Autopsy material of normal cerebella was obtained from patients, who gave their informed consent. Patient age ranged between 18 and 67 years for adult cerebella, and between 22 weeks of gestation and 6 months for developing cerebella. None of these patients died from a central nervous system disorder or showed neuropathological abnormalities on histological examination. All tissue samples were either immediately fixed in formaldehyde and embedded in paraffin or snap-frozen and stored at -80°C until use.

| | | | | | | Relative |
|--------|---------------------|-----|---------|----------|--------|------------|
| Sample | Histological | Sex | Age | Follow | Status | ITGB1 |
| number | subtype | | [years] | up | | mRNA |
| | | | | [months] | | expression |
| 1 | anaplastic | f | 10.4 | 5.3 | NED | 0.28 |
| 2 | classic | m | 2.4 | 21 | DOD | 4.9 |
| 3 | classic | f | 3.6 | 21.1 | DOD | 0.04 |
| 4 | classic | f | 3.7 | 5.4 | NED | 5.88 |
| 5 | classic | m | 4.1 | 35.4 | NED | 0.01 |
| 6 | classic | m | 4.9 | 75.7 | DOD | 0.23 |
| 7 | classic | m | 5.4 | 135.6 | NED | 6.87 |
| 8 | classic | f | 5.5 | 28.3 | DOD | 5.93 |
| 9 | classic | m | 5.5 | 137.5 | NED | 1.59 |
| 10 | classic | m | 5.9 | 2.5 | NED | 2.06 |
| 11 | classic | m | 6.2 | 22.2 | DOD | 22.42 |
| 12 | classic | m | 6.7 | 33.4 | NED | 7.61 |
| 13 | classic | m | 7.0 | 113.2 | NED | 10.66 |
| 14 | classic | m | 7.9 | 24.1 | DOD | 8.79 |
| 15 | classic | m | 8.5 | 36.5 | DOD | 7.38 |
| 16 | classic | m | 9.3 | 56.0 | NED | 7.06 |
| 17 | classic | m | 9.9 | 79 | NED | 8.26 |
| 18 | classic | m | 10.6 | 23.7 | NED | 2.23 |
| 19 | classic | m | 11.6 | 27.3 | NED | 0.5 |
| 20 | classic | m | 16.5 | 27.2 | NED | 2.03 |
| 21 | classic | m | 22.3 | 35.3 | NED | 7.76 |
| 22 | classic | f | 29.3 | 19.5 | NED | 5.11 |
| 23 | classic | m | 39.7 | 24.4 | DOD | 3.22 |
| 24 | desmoplastic | f | 1.6 | 66.9 | NED | 1.44 |
| 25 | desmoplastic | f | 2.2 | 128.0 | NED | 3.87 |
| 26 | desmoplastic | m | 2.5 | 7.0 | DOD | 0.02 |
| 27 | desmoplastic | m | 7.5 | 14.2 | DOD | 3.65 |
| 28 | desmoplastic | f | 14.3 | 62.7 | DOD | 7.74 |
| 29 | desmoplastic | m | 22.8 | 47.3 | NED | 8.10 |
| 30 | desmoplastic | f | 25.5 | 75.5 | NED | 0.03 |
| 31 | desmoplastic | f | 26.5 | 46.0 | NED | 4.97 |
| 32 | desmoplastic | f | 30.5 | 46.4 | NED | 1.67 |
| 33 | desmoplastic | f | 30.7 | 17.7 | NED | 3.08 |
| 34 | extensively nodular | f | 0.7 | 107.3 | NED | 0.01 |
| 35 | extensively nodular | f | 2.2 | 175.6 | NED | 2.47 |
| 36 | extensively nodular | m | 2.7 | 5.6 | NED | 2.46 |
| 37 | extensively nodular | f | 2.9 | 78.4 | NED | 2.59 |

Table 1 : Clinical data of patients with medulloblastoma. DOD, Death of disease; NED, No evidence of disease.

2.3. RNA Extraction and Real-Time PCR

Most cDNA probes of human medulloblastoma samples were obtained from Julia Pöschl, who extracted the RNA and performed reverse transcription according to the following protocols.

To extract total RNA, 20-30 of 10 μ m thick slices of snap frozen tissue were gently homogenized with the pipette in 750 μ l of TRIzol® reagent (Invitrogen). Then this homogenized tissue was incubated at room temperature for 5 min, subsequently 150 μ l of Chloroform were added and the suspension was shaken for 15 sec and another time incubated for 3 min at room temperature. Through centrifugation with 14.000 x g for 15 min, the suspension was separated into three layers the undermost layer contained the DNA and TRIzol® reagent, the middle layer contained protein and cell detritus and the top layer contained RNA and Chloroform. The top layer (of approximately 350 μ l) was transferred by pipette into a new tube. To precipitate the RNA, 375 μ l of Isopropanol were added, and then it was briefly mixed, incubated for 10min at room temperature and afterwards fuged with 14.000 x g. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with 750 μ l of Ethanol, then again the solution was centrifuged with 7.500 x g at 4°C. The Ethanol was discarded and the rest was removed with the pipette. Then the RNA pellet was dissolved in 24 μ l of DEPC water. To determine the concentration of the RNA in the solution, NanoDrop 3300 was used (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Subsequently total RNA was treated with RQ1 RNase-Free DNase (Promega), to remove the remaining DNA fragments. According to the protocol firstly the digestion reaction was prepared containing: 8 μ I RNA (in DEPC water), 1 μ I RQ1 RNase-Free DNase 10x Reaction Buffer, 1u RQ1 RNase-Free DNase was added per 1 μ g of RNA. This solution was mixed and incubated at 37°C for 30 min, then 1 μ I of RQ1 DNase Stop Solution was added to terminate the reaction. The following incubation at 65°C for 10 minutes inactivated the DNase.

SuperScript® II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) was used to run reverse transcription for human samples. Each reaction consisted of: Up to 4 μ g total RNA in up to 8 μ l, 1 μ l of 10 mM dNTP mix, mixture of 0.5 μ l Oligo (dT)₁₅ primers and 0.5 μ l random hexamers (50 ng/ μ l), this solution was filled up to 10 μ l with DEPC-treated water. The RNA/primer mixture was incubated at 65°C for 5 min then it was placed on ice for at least 1 min. In a different tube the 2x reaction mix; per run was prepared in the following order: 2 μ l 10x RT Puffer, 4 μ l 25m M MgCl₂, 2 μ l 0.1 M DTT, 1 μ l RNaseOUTTM (40 U/ μ l) Recombinant Ribonuclease Inhibitor. 9 μ l of this 2x reaction mix were added to each RNA/primer mixture and mixed gently, then it was incubated at room temperature for 2 min. To each tube 1 μ l of SuperScript® II Reverse

Transcriptase was added and incubated at room temperature for 10 min, then it was incubated at 42°C for 50 min and the reaction was terminated at 70°C for 25 min and subsequently chilled on ice. Then the solution was collected briefly by centrifugation, 1 μ I of RNase H was added to each sample and incubated for 20 min at 37°C. Then the samples were stored at -20°C until their use for PCR.

The real-time relative quantitative reverse transcriptase (RT)-PCR experiments were performed at the LightCycler® 480 (Roche) on 96 multiwell-plates with the LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master reagents (Roche). When SYBR Green I dye binds to double-stranded DNA, the fluorescence signal of SYBR Green I dye in this complex increases significantly. With progressive amplification of the specific DNA segment during PCR reaction also the fluorescence increases, which is measured after every cycle of PCR at the end of the elongation.

The SYBR Green I Master Mix for LightCycler®480 included already a FastStart Taq DNA Polymerase and the SYBR Green I dye (Roche), from this mix 5 μ I were used for each reaction. Furthermore it was added 1 μ I Fw Primer and 1 μ I of Rv Primer and 3 μ I of the cDNA. The LightCycler® 480 was programmed for PCR as follows:

- 1. Incubation at 95°C for 5min
- 2. Denaturation at 95°C for 10 seconds
- 3. Annealing at 58°C for 10 seconds
- 4. Elongation at 72°C for 15 seconds

_ These steps were repeated 45 times

In this study the *ITGB1* (human β 1 Integrin) was the target gene, the aim was to measure the level of *ITGB1* expression in tissue of human medulloblastoma. To perform relative quantification of the expression of the target gene Beta-2 microglobuline was used as housekeeping gene, which is expressed constitutively in every sample and independent from pathological changes at the same level, . Additionally, every round of measurement the same calibrator sample was used to normalize the different rounds. Every measurement was done three times. The appropriate primers for this were found with Primer 3 software experiment. Sequences were as follows for the indicated genes:

ITGB1 FW 5'-TGGGCTTTACGGAGGAAGTA-3';

ITGB1 RV 5'-CTACCAACACGCCCTTCATT-3',

B2M FW 5'-TGTCTTTCAGCAAGGACTGG-3';

B2M RV 5'- GATGCTGCTTACATGTATCG-3'.

For each primer pair, melting curves were conducted after the amplification with LightCycler480® software and agarose gel electrophoresis were performed to

determine the presence of a single amplification product. To correct the efficiency for each set of primers, a standard curve was created. The efficiency of the *B2M* primer pair was 1.887 and for *ITGB1* primer pair was 1.875.

The calibrator normalized relative ratio was calculated the following way:

Normalized Ratio= $E_T^{CpT(C)-CpT(S)} \times E_R^{CpR(C)-CpR(S)}$

CpT/CpR: Cycle number at target/reference detection threshold (crossing point); E_T/E_R : Efficiency of target/reference amplification; T: Target; R: Reference; S: Unknown sample; C: Calibrator

2.4. Histology and Immunohistochemistry

For all histological methods, brains were dissected, fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyd at 4°C, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned at 5 µm according to standard protocols. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stains or Bielschowsky silver impregnations were performed according to standard protocols. For immunohistochemistry, paraffin sections were subjected to heat antigen retrieval at 100°C for 20 min in 10 mM sodium citrate buffer for all antibodies. Staining was performed using the HRP/DAB staining system (DAKO) according to the manufacturer's specifications. Primary antibodies were NeuN (Chemicon), Caspase3 (Cell Signaling Technology), Ki67 (DAKO), PCNA (DAKO), phospho-Histone H3 (pHH3, Cell Signaling Technology), Pax2 (Zymed), Pax6 (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), Sox2 (Chemicon), Calbindin (Sigma), GFAP (DAKO), Cre recombinase (Covance), Zic1 (gift from R. Segal) and S100 (DAKO). All histological photomicrographs were taken digitally using an Olympus BX50 microscope in combination with the ColorView (Soft Imaging System).

2.5. Western Blot analysis

Proteins were extracted from tissue samples, lysis was performed on ice for 30 minutes in 500 µl of ice-cold lysis buffer containing 50 mmol/L Tris-HCI (pH 8), 120 mmol/L NaCI, 0.5% Nonidet® P-40 (Sigma), 1 mmol/L phenylmethyl sulfonyl fluoride (Sigma), 100 U/ml aprotinin (Calbiochem), and 0.1 mol/L NaF. Debris was removed by centrifugation for 20 minutes at 12,000 x g and at 4°C (Hartmann et al. 2005). Samples

were separated by 10% sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and blotted on nitrocellulose. To document equal loading of the gels, Ponceau staining of the membranes was performed. Blocking was performed with 10% nonfat dry milk (Bio-Rad) in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.05% Tween 20 and 20% horse serum for 2 hours at room temperature. Subsequently, membranes were incubated with rabbit β 1-Integrin antiserum overnight (gift from Dr. Staffan Johansson, Uppsala University, Sweden). An alkaline phosphatase-coupled goat anti-rabbit antibody together with the CDP-Star solution (Roche) was used for detection. Quantifications were normalized to individual Actin levels for each sample.

2.6. Statistical Analysis

All obtained results were analyzed using the Prism4 software (Graph Pad). In vivo counting of phospho-histone H3-postive cells in the EGL was performed relating the total number of immunolabeled cells on each section to the overall length of the EGL. Results derived from counting three different sections of two animals for each genotype. Survival of patients and mice was analyzed using Kaplan-Meier survival curves and the Log-rank test was used to examine the significance of results. P-values < 0.05 were considered as significant. The unpaired t-test was applied to compare the means of two groups with assumed Gaussian distribution and equal variances. If variances were not equal, as confined by the F-test, or Gaussian distribution was not expected, the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test for unpaired data was used to compare the medians of two groups. For guantification of immunohistochemical reactivity for S100 and Cre in the Purkinje cell layer (PCL) and the molecular layer (ML), positive cells in lobules III and V were counted in three sagittal cerebellar sections per mouse for three different animals per genotype. The PCL was defined as the area from 5 µm below the bottom to 5 µm above the top of Purkinie cell somata. The number of immunoreactive cells was counted separately and expressed as cells per mm PCL.

3. Results

3.1. Expression of β1-Integrins in Cerebellar Granule Neuron Precursors

β1-Integrins in *Nestin*-positive precursors were previously found to regulate the formation of cortical structures in the brain (Graus-Porta et al. 2001). The deletion of β1-Integrin in *Nestin*-positive neural precursors in conditional knockout mice results in a decrease in size and perturbed cortical lamination of the cerebellum. It should be mentioned that *Nestin* is expressed in all kinds of neural precursors. To address the specific role of β1-Integrins in CGNPs for the formation of the cerebellar cortex, the *ltgb1* gene was conditionally inactivated by using a *Math1-cre* line, which is known to recombine CGNPs, but no other cell types of the cerebellar cortex (Machold and Fishell 2005; Schüller et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2005). In a first step, it was analyzed whether β1-Integrins have indeed been deleted from CGNPs in this mouse model. Therefore genomic DNA from the EGL of paraffin sections was isolated and checked for the recombination of the *ltgb1* allele by semiquantitative PCR. As expected, the *ltgb1* allele has been recombined in the majority of cells in the EGL (Figure 8 A).

Furthermore, Western blot analysis of cerebellar tissue from *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice isolated at P7 revealed a reduction of almost 50% in β 1-Integrin protein levels (Figure 8 B).

Bearing in mind whole cerebellum lysates which also contained *Math1*-negative cell types were used, it was reasoned that β 1-Integrins have been deleted in the majority of *Math1-cre::Itgb1*^{*FI/FI*} CGNPs.



Figure 8 Inactivation of β 1-Integrins in CGNPs of the cerebellum. PCR analysis of genomic DNA isolated from the external granule layer of wild type, *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice at postnatal day 7 (P7) indicating the different *Itgb1* alleles (A). Western blot analysis for β 1-Integrins in cerebella of indicated genotypes confirmed deletion of β 1-Integrins in *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice (B).

To investigate the effect of β 1-Integrin deletion in CGNPs, Hematoxylin and Eosinstained sagittal sections were assessed of postnatal day 7 (P7) and adult *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice to analyze the overall organization of the cerebellar cortex. As in *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice that do not express Cre recombinase in CGNPs, cortical layers of the cerebellum in *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice appeared normal during development and at the adult stage (Fig. 9 A,B,D,E,G,H,J,K).

Immunohistochemical staining using antibodies against NeuN, a postmitotic neuronal marker, revealed that the differentiation of CGNPs into mature cerebellar granule neurons remained unaffected in *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice (Fig. 9 C,F,I,L). Furthermore, Caspase3 immunoreactivity displayed no differences with respect to the apoptotic activity in cerebella of *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice at P7 (Fig. 9 M,Q). In both control and conditional knockout mice, only few apoptotic cells were visible, predominantly in the IGL and the prospective white matter. It has previously been proposed that β 1-Integrins are essential for the proliferation and the ongoing expansion of the CGNP pool during development (Blaess et al. 2004). To address whether the deletion of β 1-Integrins in CGNPs in vivo caused any proliferative defects that would not be visible on standard histology, the number of proliferating cells in the EGL at P7 was analyzed. This age was chosen, since it represents the phase of highest CGNP proliferation during cerebellar development (Wechsler-Reva and Scott 1999). However, immunostaining for proliferation markers such as Ki67 and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) revealed no differences between *Math1-cre::ltgb1^{FI/FI}* and *ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice (Fig. 9 N,R,O,S). Further antibodies against phosphorylated histone H3 (pHH3), expression of which marks cells in the M phase of the cell cycle, were used and analyzed its expression in the cerebellar EGL (Figure 9 P,T). Cell counts in histological sections confirmed that the EGL of *Math1-cre::ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice contained normal numbers of mitotic cells (Figure 9 U). In addition to that, primary cultured and Cre-IRES-GFP virus-transduced CGNPs from postnatal day 7 *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice revealed no statistically significant differences with respect to BrdU-incorporation as compared with control cells that were transduced with IRES-GFP virus (Figure 9 V, this experiment was performed by Pierfranesco Pagella). Thus, the acute deletion of *β*1-Integrins in CGNPs did not affect their proliferative activity in response to Sonic hedgehog. Taken together, the conclusion is that the expression of β 1-Integrins in CGNPs is not required for the proper formation of the murine cerebellum.



Figure 9 Inactivation of β 1-Integrins in CGNPs of the cerebellum. Histological analysis of cerebella from *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice did not show any differences at P7 or adult stages (C–T). Paraffinembedded sections were stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin or antibodies specific for neuronal nuclei protein (NeuN), Caspase3, Ki67, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), and phospho-Histone H3 (pHH3). Statistical analysis of pHH3-positive cells in the external granule layer of *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice revealed no differences in proliferation (U). Acute deletion of β 1-Integrins by Cre virus in cultured CGNPs of *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice had no effect on proliferative activity in response to Sonic hedgehog (V this experiment was performed by Pierfrancesco Pagella). Boxed areas in A, D, G, and J are shown as higher magnifications in adjacent pictures. EGL, external granular layer; IGL, internal granular layer; ML, molecular layer; PCL,Purkinje cell layer; WM, white matter; n. s., not significant. Scale bars: 500 µm (in A for A, F; in G for G, J), 25 µm (in B for B, C, E, F, H, I, K-T).

3.2. Expression of β1-Integrin in Shh-induced mouse medulloblastoma and human medulloblastoma

Medulloblastoma, the most common malignant brain tumor in childhood, can be divided into four different subgroups depending on their gene expression profile and there is evidence that subtypes of medulloblastoma have distinct developmental origins (Gibson et al. 2010; Taylor et al. 2012). Medulloblastoma with activated Wnt pathway may arise outside of the cerebellum from cells of the dorsal brainstem (Gibson et al. 2010), whereas Shh-associated tumors are suggested to arise from the CGNP population of the cerebellum (Schüller et al. 2008). Given the previously reported importance of β1-Integrins in tumorigenesis and cerebellar development (Graus-Porta tumors in *Math1-cre::SmoM2*^{Fl/+} mice that served as a model for CGNP-derived medulloblastoma (Schüller et al. 2008). In such mice with a Math1*cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}SmoM2^{FI/+}* genotype, Cre expression driven by *Math1* promoter sequences was supposed to delete *β*1-Integrins in CGNPs, while the Shh pathway is constitutively activated through the oncogenic SmoM2 mutation that is expressed under control of the same promoter. To estimate whether the deletion of β1-Integrins had substantial impact on the survival of Math1-cre::SmoM2^{FI/+}, a Kaplan-Meier analysis was first performed to compare the survival of Math1-cre:: $SmoM2^{Fl/+}$ (n = 21), Math1 $cre::Itgb1^{Fl/+}SmoM2^{Fl/+}$ (n = 16), and $Math1-cre::Itgb1^{Fl/Fl}SmoM2^{Fl/+}$ mice (n = 40). However, there were not detected any statistically significant differences in the overall survival of these mice (Figure 10 A). PCR analysis from DNA of tumor tissue confirmed that the *ltgb1* allele had successfully been recombined both in Math1cre:: $Itgb1^{FI/+}$ SmoM2^{FI/+} and in Math1-cre:: $Itgb1^{FI/FI}$ SmoM2^{FI/+} mice (Figure 10 B). Moreover, protein levels of β 1-Integrins were clearly reduced in tumors of Math1cre::Itgb1^{FI/+}SmoM2^{FI/+} mice and almost absent in tumors of Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} SmoM2^{FI/+} mice (Figure 10 C). Histological analysis of the tumors did not reveal any differences in *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/+}SmoM2^{FI/+}* or *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}SmoM2^{FI/+}* mice as compared with control mice with respect to overall morphology and immunoreactivity for Ki67 (Figure 10 D–L). Quantification of the proliferative activity did not reveal any significant differences between the indicated genotypes (Figure 10 M).



Figure 10 Analysis of Itgb1 in medulloblastoma. Kaplan–Meier curves for mice of the three indicated genotypes revealed no statistically significant differences in survival (A). Semiquantitative PCR analysis of DNA from murine medulloblastoma confirmed the successful recombination of the Itgb1 allele (B). Expression levels of β Integrin1-Integrin protein in indicated medulloblastoma tissues confirmed β 1-integrin deletion in *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}SmoM2^{FI/+}* mice (C). Histology with low and high magnification and expression of Ki67 visualized by immunohistochemistry of *Math1-cre::SmoM2^{FI/+}*, *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}SmoM2^{FI/+}*, and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}SmoM2^{FI/+}* mice showed no differences (D–M). Relative expression of ITGB1 in human developing cerebellum (DCB), adult cerebellum (ACB), desmoplastic medulloblastoma (DMB), and classic medulloblastoma (CMB) revealed high expression of ITGB1 in medulloblastoma s and developing cerebella in comparison to adult cerebella (N). No statistically significant differences between the histological subtypes, CMB and DMB, were noted with respect to ITGB1 expression. Overall survival rates of medulloblastoma patients (n = 37) grouped according to those with expression levels of ITGB1 below the median and above the median were similar (P 5 0.2, O). MB, medulloblastoma; BS, brainstem; n. s., not significant. Scale bars: 3 mm (in D for D, G, J); 50 µm (in E for E, F, H, I, K, L).

Last, the β 1-Integrin-deficient tumors displayed normal expression with regard to Zic1 that labels cerebellar granule neurons and granule neuron-derived medulloblastomas (Figure 11 A–D).



Figure 11 Expression of Zic1, a marker of neuronal differentiation, in Itgb1-deficient and control medulloblastoma of mice with the indicated genotype. Expression of Zic1 (A-C) show no differences in medulloblastoma from indicated mouse models. Quantification for Zic1-positive cells in medulloblastomas from *Math1-cre::SmoM2^{Fl/+}*, *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{Fl/+}SmoM2^{Fl/+}* and *Math1-cre::Itgb1^{Fl/Fl}SmoM2^{Fl/+}* mice (D). Scale bars: 50 µm.

Since the mouse model of Shh-associated medulloblastoma used for this study, did most likely not fully reflect the situation in all molecular subtypes of human medulloblastoma, real-time RT-PCR was used to analyze the relative expression of human *Integrin* β 1 *gene* (*ITGB1*) in human samples of normal cerebella (n = 8) and medulloblastoma (n = 37) and subsequently its correlation with the patients' survival was investigated.

In comparison to adult cerebella, *ITGB1* was highly expressed during development and in medulloblastomas (P = 0.03 and P = 0.04, respectively, Figure 12). However, there was no significant difference in *ITGB1* expression between desmoplastic (n = 10) and classic (n = 22) medulloblastomas, the two major histological tumor subtypes (P = 0.13, Figure 12).



Figure 12 Relative expression of *ITGB1* in human developing cerebellum (DCB), adult cerebellum (ACB), desmoplastic medulloblastoma DMB), and classic medulloblastoma (CMB) revealed high expression of ITGB1 in medulloblastomas and developing cerebella in comparison to adult cerebella. No statistically significant differences between the histological subtypes, CMB and DMB, were noted with respect to ITGB1 expression.

To further support this finding, publicly available microarray data from an independent series of 62 medulloblastoma samples were reanalyzed (Kool et al. 2008) with regard to the *ITGB1* expression in different molecular subtypes of medulloblastoma. Molecular subtyping of medulloblastomas was performed according to a recent consensus that defined four main subtypes (Taylor et al. 2012). According to this data, *ITGB1* was expressed in all molecular subtypes of medulloblastoma, and there was no statistically significant difference regarding its expression levels (Figure 13).



Figure 13 Relative expression of *ITGB1* in molecular subtypes of medulloblastoma molecular subgroups (Kool et al. 2008; Taylor et al. 2012). *ITGB1* is expressed in all molecular subtypes of medulloblastoma, but there is no statistically significant difference between the different subtypes regarding *ITGB1*.

Next, the survival of patients was analyzed according to the mRNA levels of *ITGB1*. For Kaplan–Meier analyses, patients were divided in two groups based on the median *ITGB1* expression of their tumors. As shown in Figure 14, the expression of *ITGB1* was not correlated with the patient's survival (P = 0.2). The conclusion of these results is that the expression of β 1-Integrins in CGNPs was not essential for the formation of CGNP-derived medulloblastoma and had no impact on the survival of tumor-prone mice. Furthermore, β 1-Integrins were highly expressed in human medulloblastomas, but their expression had no prognostic role in medulloblastoma patients.



Figure 14 Overall survival rates of medulloblastoma patients (n = 37) grouped according to those with expression levels of *ITGB1* below the median and above the median were similar (P = 0.2). n. s.; not significant.

3.3. Expression of β1-Integrins in Glia of the cerebellum

Although conditional deletion of β 1-Integrins under the control of Nestin promoter sequences had severe consequences for the development of the cerebellum, deletion of \beta1-Integrins in committed cerebellar granule neurons that express Math1 did not affect cerebellar development or tumorgenesis. To further investigate, which cell types within the cerebellar cortex would require β 1-Integrins for appropriate development, a hGFAP-cre mouse line was used for driving Cre-mediated deletion of β 1-Integrins in glia of the postnatal cerebellum (Malatesta et al. 2003; Zhuo et al. 2001). Hematoxylin and Eosin-stained sections from 7-day-old hGFAPcre::*ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice revealed cerebella that were clearly smaller than those from hGFAP-cre: $Itgb1^{Fl/+}$ control mice (Figure 15) A.D). The depth of fissures as well as the size of individual lobules were decreased. and cerebellar lobules of hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} mice were fused together (Figure 15 B,C,E,F; arrow in F points to the fusion line of two adjacent lobules). In adult mutant cerebella, the overall size was still reduced and no clear fissures formed between adjoining lobules (Figure 15 G–L). The internal granular layer (IGL) was less prominent in size and displayed a rather washed-out and less confined structure. Moreover, some cerebellar granule neurons formed ectopia along the fusion line of adjacent lobules and on the cerebellar surface of *hGFAP*-cre::*ltab1^{FI/FI}* mice (Figure 15 I.L: arrow in L points) toward cerebellar granule neurons ectopia on the fusion line of adjacent folia). To visualize the nerve fiber organization in the cerebellar cortex, a Bielschowsky silver impregnation was performed on cerebellar sections of *hGFAPcre:: ltgb1^{FI/FI}* and control mice (Figure 15 M,N). Parallel fibers of the cerebellum of hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} mice appeared extenuated in terms of size and number as compared with control mice. Furthermore, parallel fibers did not display their natural orientation parallel to the cerebellar surface. They were arranged in a rather disoriented fashion throughout the ML (Figure 15 N). Taken together, the cerebellum of hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} mice was severely affected in terms of size, cortical lamination, and nerve fiber organization.



Figure 15 Cerebellar histology in *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1*^{*Fl/+*} and *hGFAPcre::Itgb1*^{*Fl/Fl*} mice. Cerebella were analyzed at postnatal day 7 (P7, A–F) and adult stage (G–P). Paraffin sections were stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin (H&E). Boxed areas are shown as higher magnifications in adjacent pictures. Arrows in (F) and (L) point to remnants of the external granule layer. Bielschowsky silver impregnation of nerve fibers reveals a gross disorganization of parallel fibers in the molecular layer of *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1*^{*Fl/Fl*} mice (M, N).). EGL, external granule layer; IGL, internal granule layer; ML, molecular layer; PCL Purkinje cell layer. Scale bars: 2 mm (in A for A, D, G, J); 200 µm (in B for B, E, H, K); 100 µm (in C for C, F, I, L); 10 µm (M, N).

To further characterize the above described phenotype, immunohistochemistry was performed for several cellular markers on P7 and adult cerebella that were able to identify major neuronal cell types. Islands of ectopic cells that were stuck on the cerebellar surface were strongly positive for NeuN and Pax6, as early as P7 (Figure 16 A,B,F,G,K,L,P,Q), arguing that these cells are cerebellar granule neurons (Weyer and Schilling 2003) that were not able to migrate into the inner granule layer and prematurely differentiated in this position. Antibodies against Pax2 and Calbindin were then used to identify inhibitory interneurons and Purkinje neurons, respectively (Figure 16 C,D,H,I,M,N,R,S). Pax2-positive as well as Calbindin-positive cells were regularly detected in cerebella of P7 and adult *hGFAP*-cre::*Itgb1*^{FI/FI} mice, suggesting that these

cell populations were properly specified and remained unaffected. Finally, expression of Ki67 revealed a normal proliferative activity in *hGFAPcre::ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice (Figure 16 E,J,O,T). However that cerebellar granule neuron ectopia did not proliferate, further supporting the hypothesis that these are mature cerebellar granule neurons. It is well known that cerebellar granule neurons of the external granular layer of the cerebellum migrate along Bergmann glial fibers into the inner granular layer (Hatten 2002).



Figure 16 Analysis of different cell types in *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice compared with controls. Immunohistochemistry using indicated antibodies was performed on sections of paraffin-embedded cerebella from *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* (control) and *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice at postnatal day 7 (P7, A–J) and adult stage (K–T) to visualize the major cell types and proliferative activity in the cerebellar cortex. Dashed lines delineate the surface of the cerebellum between two cerebellar lobes. Scale bars: 50 µm (in A for A-T).

In this context, it was aimed to examine if the observed migration defect of cerebellar granule neurons in *hGFAPcre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice might be attributed alterations in the Bergmann glia cell population. To test this, the expression of different Bergmann glia markers was analyzed in the ML and the PCL. Whereas GFAP immunoreactivity in P7 cerebella was hardly detectable (Figure 17 A,E), the GFAP signal in adult *hGFAP*-cre::*Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice revealed that radial glial fibers extending from Bergmann glia showed no directional outgrowth to the cerebellar surface as compared with control mice and terminated randomly within the ML (Figure 17 I,M). The expression of Sox2 was restricted to Bergmann glia within the PCL in control mice according to the literature (Figure 17 B,J) (Sottile et al. 2006), but Sox2 expressing cells were found in the PCL,

the ML, and cerebellar granule neuron ectopia of hGFAP-cre::/tgb1^{FV/FI} mice (Figure 17 F,N). To visualize Bergmann glia cells during postnatal development, the expression of S100 protein was also analyzed in the cerebellum of hGFAP-cre::/tgb1^{FV/FI} mice. The vast majority of Bergmann glia cells inhabited the PCL in P7 and adult cerebella of control mice. Only few positive cells were detected in the ML or the IGL (Figure 17 C,K). In contrast, S100-positive cells invaded the ML and cerebellar granule neuron ectopia on the cerebellar surface of hGFAPcre::/tgb1^{FV/FI} mice (Figure 17 G,O), further indicating a disorganization of the glial network. Last, antibodies against Cre were used that served as a surrogate marker of hGFAP in this system. Although Cre expressing cells in P7 control mice inhabited the PCL, the IGL, and the white matter (Figure 17 D), Cre expressing cells in P7 hGFAP-cre::/tgb1^{FV/FI} mice were also detected in the ML, the EGL, or in ectopic cerebellar granule neuron accumulations (Figure 17 H). In the adult control cerebellar cortex, Cre immunoreactivity was only seen in Bergmann glia of the PCL (Figure 17 L), while in hGFAP-cre::/tgb1^{FV/FI} mice Cre expressing cells were visible in the PCL and in the ML (Figure 17 P).



Figure 17 Translocation of Bergmann glia cells into the molecular layer in hGFAP-cre::Itgb1FI/FI mice. Cells positive for astrocytic markers hGFAP, Sox2, and S100 as well as Cre were predominantly localized in the Purkinje cell layer (PCL) of control mice, while a number of cells expressing these markers was distributed throughout the molecular layer (ML) in *hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice both at postnatal day 7 as well as at adult stages (A–P). Scale bars: 25 μ m (in A for A-P); 10 μ m (inset in B; for all insets).

To further substantiate these findings, the number of cells was quantified in both the PCL and the ML that expressed S100 and Cre (Figure 18 A, B). The number of S100-positive cells in the PCL significantly decreased in *hGFAP*-cre::*ltgb1*^{*Fl/Fl*} mice as compared with controls, while S100-positive cells in the ML markedly increased (Figure 18 A). At the same time, the overall number of S100-positive cells was not changed, indicating that Bergmann glia cells translocate from the PCL to the ML in *hGFAP*-cre::*ltgb1*^{*Fl/Fl*} mice. These data are supported by quantification of Cre expressing cells in *hGFAP*cre::*ltgb1*^{*Fl/Fl*} and control mice (Figure 18 B).



Figure 18 Quantification of S100- and Cre-positive cells in the PCL and ML at adult stage revealed that Bergmann glia cells translocate into the ML, while the overall number of Bergmann glia cells is not changed (A, B).

The conclusion is that loss of β 1-Integrins in cerebellar glia has dramatic impact on the development of multiple cortical cell types. Although radial glia revealed pathological positioning and inappropriate development of its processes, cerebellar granule neurons were prohibited from physiological migration and underwent premature differentiation in ectopic regions of the superficial cerebellar cortex.

4. Discussion

In this study, β 1-Integrin was inactivated selectively in granule neuron precursors of the cerebellum and in glia. Although the loss of ß1-Integrins in glia has previously been described to result in reactive gliosis and in an activation of microglial cells in the forebrain (Robel et al., 2009), its role during cerebellar development was unclear, particularly with respect to glial-neuronal interactions. It was demonstrated that the loss of *β*1-Integrins in CGNPs did not affect the overall cerebellar development. In contrast, the deletion of β1-Integrins in glia resulted in severe malformations of the cerebellum, including the fusion of cerebellar folia and a disturbed migration of CGNPs. It should be mentioned that hGFAP promoter sequences do not provide a Bergmann glia-specific similarly fate-mapping granule neurons and astrocytes of the cerebellum (Zhuo et al. 2001). Although, it cannot be totally ruled out the contributions of other affected cell types to the phenotype observed in *hGFAP*-cre:*ltgb1^{FI/FI}* mice, the results of this study suggest that the deletion of β 1-Integrins in Bergmann glia is responsible for the observed malformations for the following reasons: First, Math1-cre-driven β1-Integrin knockout in granule neurons alone did not result in any cerebellar pathology. Second, the observed migratory deficit of cerebellar granule neuron progenitors points to the Bergmann glia cells as the primary cause of the phenotype (Rakic and Sidman 1973). Third, massive morphological abnormalities were detected within the Bergmann glia cell population. The described impairment of cerebellar lamination in hGFAPcre: *Itgb1*^{*FI/FI*} mice is in line with previous findings that described the deletion of β 1-Integrins in early neural precursor populations using the Nestin promoter (Graus et al., 2001). Here, it had been proposed that β 1-Integrins in glial cells are required for the anchorage of glial endfeet to the meningeal basement membrane and the overall assembly of the basement membrane. Glial network perturbations near the basement membrane were also described to be responsible for cerebellar granule neuron ectopia (Graus et al., 2001). In contrast, it has been proposed that β1-Integrins act at least in part cell autonomously in CGNPs to positively regulate the synergistic effect of laminin on Shh-induced proliferation (Blaess et al., 2004). Although Blaess et al. used primary CGNPs cultures from *Nestin-cre:Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice and mainly tested the interaction of β 1-Integrins and laminin in the context of Shh-induced proliferation, in this study conditional knockout mice with a specific *ltgb1* knockout in granule neuron precursors were investigated, but it was not possible to find any impact of β 1-Integrin expression in granule neurons. In fact, the *in vivo* results suggest that β 1-Integrin expression in Math1-positive cerebellar granule neurons, which represent the majority, if not all

granule neurons, is dispensable for the development of the cerebellum. To exclude compensatory mechanisms that could take place in vivo and possibly obscure essential roles of β 1-Integrin, Pierfrancesco Pagella performed experiments, where he acutely deleted β 1-Integrin in primary cultured *Itgb1^{FI/FI}* CGNPs by Cre/loxP-based recombination, but he did not detect any effects on Shh associated proliferation (Frick et al. 2012). The above mentioned results are supported by previous findings, which demonstrated that the deletion of β 1-Integrins in migrating neurons is not sufficient to disturb the formation of cell layers in the cerebral cortex and the morphological differentiation of cortical neurons (Belvindrah et al., 2007). Furthermore, in vitro not reveal any impact on BrdU-incorporation (Le Dreau et al. 2010). Instead, Daniel Grammel demonstrated in his *in vitro* experiments that the deletion of β 1-Integrins from radial glia abolishes the poly-L-ornithine/laminin-mediated extension of glial fibers, which subsequently results in an impairment of CGNP development (Frick et al. 2012). It appears possible that redundant receptor systems partly compensate the loss of β 1-Integrins in vivo since the glial fiber system and neuronal migration in the cerebellum of hGFAP-cre::Itgb1^{FI/FI} mice was only partly disturbed. Nevertheless, the data of this study suggest that all development changes seen in *Nestin-cre:Itgb1^{FI/FI}* mice (Graus et al., 2001) are caused by the loss of β 1-Integrins in glia, but not in cerebellar granule neurons. Interestingly, the size of hGFAP-cre::/tgb1^{FI/FI} cerebella was significantly smaller when compared with controls, a phenomenon that could point toward major defects in the proliferation of cerebellar granule neurons. However, it can be argued that these proliferation defects are not due to granule cell-autonomous functions of B1-Integrins and that any impairment in granule neuron proliferation may be a secondary phenomenon due to inappropriate migration along β 1-Integrin-deleted radial glia. This hypothesis is supported by a previous report, where inappropriate development of Bergmann glia secondarily leads to a marked reduction of CGNP proliferation (Hoser et al. 2007). *β*1-Integrins have been studied intensively in various cancer types. Several reports indicate that β1-Integrins facilitate tumor progression in breast carcinoma (Chung et al. 2004; Friedrichs et al. 1995; Weaver et al. 1997; Wewer et al. 1997; Yao et al. 2007). Furthermore, β 1-Integrins have been implicated in other cancer types such as prostate or colorectal cancer (Fujita et al. 1995; Rabinovitz et al. 1995), and have shown to serve as a prognostic marker in gastric and breast cancer (Xu et al. 2010; Yao et al. 2007). However, conflicting data attribute β 1-Integrins a tumor suppressor function in breast cancer or tumor formation in the skin (Owens and Watt 2001; Zutter et al. 1995). This study demonstrates that deletion of β1-Integrin from tumors that arise in a mouse model of CGNP-derived medulloblastoma did not result in a significant

survival benefit. This observation is in line with the results from *Math1-cre::Itgb1*^{FI/FI} mice, where β 1-Integrins are dispensable for the proper development and proliferation of CGNPs. Furthermore, mRNA expression levels of β 1-Integrin in human medulloblastoma samples did not predict patient outcome and thus appear not to have a prognostic value in medulloblastoma. Therefore, high expression of β 1-Integrins in human medulloblastoma samples rather reflects overall genetic setup of cancer cells and similarities to immature, proliferating CGNPs than highlighting a special role of β 1-Integrins in the formation of this tumor type. This situation is different from what has been shown for other tumors such as breast cancer, and it may also be different in gliomas that are frequent brain tumors, most likely arising from glial precursor cells. Here, it has been attributed a considerable role of α 6 β 1-Integrin in tumor progression (Delamarre et al. 2009), and it is tempting to speculate whether loss of β 1-Integrins may result in reduced growth of glioma or enhanced survival.

5. Summary

5.1. Summary

β1-class Integrins play essential roles both in developmental as well as in cancer biology. Particularly, a Nestin-driven deletion of β1-Integrin receptors results in severe abnormalities of brain development including a laminar disorganization of cerebellar granule neurons. However, since Nestin is expressed in all kinds of neural precursors, these data do not allow conclusions to be drawn about the role of B1-Integrins in distinct neuronal and glial cell types. By generating conditional knockout mice using granule neuron specific Math1-promoter sequences, it is shown that the expression of β1-Integrins in cerebellar granule neurons is dispensable for the development of the cerebellum. In another conditional knockout mouse model, the deletion of ß1-Integrin in medulloblastomas that are derived from cerebellar granule neuron precursor (CGNP) did not result in a significant survival benefit. Last, the prognosis of the patient cannot be predicted by the expression of β 1-Integrin in human medulloblastoma samples. However, a β 1-Integrin knockout using *hGFAP*-promoter sequences led to cerebellar hypoplasia, misplacement of Bergmann glia in the molecular layer, undirected outgrowth of radial glial fibers, and cerebellar granule neuron ectopia. The conclusion of this data is that the expression of B1-Integrin in cerebellar granule neurons is not important during its development or the formation of medulloblastoma. In fact, it is the expression of β 1-Integrin in glia that is crucial for the proper development of the cerebellar cortex.

5.2. Zusammenfassung

Integrine der Klasse β 1 spielen sowohl in der Entwicklungs- als auch in der Tumorbiologie eine wichtige Rolle. Insbesondere eine *Nestin*-gesteuerte Entfernung von β 1-Integrin-Rezeptoren führt zu schweren Abnormalitäten der Gehirnentwicklung, einschließlich einer laminären Fehlorganisation von zerebellären Körnerzellneuronen. Jedoch wird *Nestin* in allen Typen von neuralen Vorläuferzellen exprimiert, deshalb können aus diesen Daten keine Rückschlüsse auf die Rolle von β 1-Integrinen in einzelnen neuronalen und glialen Zelltypen gezogen werden. Durch die Erzeugung konditioneller Knockout-Mäuse, unter der Verwendung einer für Körnerzellneuronen spezifischen Math1-Promotorsequenz, wird gezeigt, dass die Expression von β 1-Integrin in zerebellären Körnerzellneuronen für die Entwicklung des Kleinhirns entbehrlich ist. In einem weiteren konditionellen Knockout Mausmodell führt die

Körnerzellneuronen hervorgehen, zu keinem signifikanten Überlebensvorteil. Zuletzt, kann die Prognose des Patienten nicht durch die Expression von
ß1-Integrin in hGFAP-Promotorsequenzen unter Steuerung von führt allerdings zur Kleinhirnhypoplasie, zur falschen Lage der Bergmann Gliazellen in der molekularen Schicht, zum ungerichteten Auswachsen von radialen Gliazellfasern und ektopisch liegenden zerebellären Körnerzellneuronen. Die Schlussfolgerung aus diesen Daten ist, dass die Expression von β1-Integrin in Körnerzellneuronen des Kleinhirns während dessen Entwicklung oder der Bildung von Medulloblastomen nicht essentiell ist. Entwicklung der Kleinhirnrinde.

6. References

- Altman J BS. 1997. Development of the Cerebellar System in Relation to its Evolution, Structure, and Functions. New York: CRC Press:783 pp.
- Barkan D, Chambers AF. 2011. beta1-integrin: a potential therapeutic target in the battle against cancer recurrence. Clin Cancer Res 17:7219-23.
- Belvindrah R, Graus-Porta D, Goebbels S, Nave KA, Müller U. 2007. Beta1 integrins in radial glia but not in migrating neurons are essential for the formation of cell layers in the cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 27:13854-65.
- Blaess S, Graus-Porta D, Belvindrah R, Radakovits R, Pons S, Littlewood-Evans A, Senften M, Guo H, Li Y, Miner JH and others. 2004. Beta1-integrins are critical for cerebellar granule cell precursor proliferation. J Neurosci 24:3402-12.
- Brakebusch C, Hirsch E, Potocnik A, Fässler R. 1997. Genetic analysis of beta1 integrin function: confirmed, new and revised roles for a crucial family of cell adhesion molecules. J of Cell Sc 110 (Pt 23):2895-3799.
- Burkin DJ, Wallace GQ, Nicol KJ, Kaufman DJ, Kaufman SJ. 2001. Enhanced expression of the alpha 7 beta 1 integrin reduces muscular dystrophy and restores viability in dystrophic mice. J Cell Biol 152:1207-18.
- CBTRUS. 2012. CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2004-2008 (March 23, 2012 Revision). Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States, Hinsdale, IL.
- Chung J, Yoon S, Datta K, Bachelder RE, Mercurio AM. 2004. Hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor transcription and protection from apoptosis are dependent on alpha6beta1 integrin in breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 64:4711-6.
- Cordes N, Park C. 2007. beta1 integrin as a molecular therapeutic target. International journal of radiation biology 83:753-813.
- Delamarre E, Taboubi S, Mathieu S, Berenguer C, Rigot V, Lissitzky JC, Figarella-Branger D, Ouafik L, Luis J. 2009. Expression of integrin alpha6beta1 enhances tumorigenesis in glioma cells. Am J Pathol 175:844-55.
- Dulabon L, Olson EC, Taglienti MG, Eisenhuth S, McGrath B, Walsh CA, Kreidberg JA, Anton ES. 2000. Reelin binds alpha3beta1 integrin and inhibits neuronal migration. Neuron 27:33-44.
- Edlund T, Jessell TM. 1999. Progression from extrinsic to intrinsic signaling in cell fate specification: a view from the nervous system. Cell 96:211-24.
- Fassler R, Meyer M. 1995. Consequences of lack of beta 1 integrin gene expression in mice. Genes Dev 9:1896-908.
- Fiez JA. 1996. Cerebellar contributions to cognition. Neuron 16:13-5.
- Fishman RB, Hatten ME. 1993. Multiple receptor systems promote CNS neural migration. J Neurosci 13:3485-95.
- Frick A, Grammel D, Schmidt F, Pöschl J, Priller M, Pagella P, von Bueren AO, Peraud A, Tonn JC, Herms J and others. 2012. Proper cerebellar development requires expression of beta1-integrin in Bergmann glia, but not in granule neurons. Glia 60:820-32.
- Friedrichs K, Ruiz P, Franke F, Gille I, Terpe HJ, Imhof BA. 1995. High expression level of alpha 6 integrin in human breast carcinoma is correlated with reduced survival. Cancer Res 55:901-6.
- Fujita S. 1967. Quantitative analysis of cell proliferation and differentiation in the cortex of the postnatal mouse cerebellum. J Cell Biol 32:277-87.
- Fujita S, Shimada M, Nakamura T. 1966. H3-thymidine autoradiographic studies on the cell proliferation and differentiation in the external and the internal granular layers of the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol 128:191-208.
- Fujita S, Watanabe M, Kubota T, Teramoto T, Kitajima M. 1995. Alteration of expression in integrin beta 1-subunit correlates with invasion and metastasis in colorectal cancer. Cancer Lett 91:145-9.

- Gajjar A, Chintagumpala M, Ashley D, Kellie S, Kun LE, Merchant TE, Woo S, Wheeler G, Ahern V, Krasin MJ and others. 2006. Risk-adapted craniospinal radiotherapy followed by high-dose chemotherapy and stem-cell rescue in children with newly diagnosed medulloblastoma (St Jude Medulloblastoma-96): long-term results from a prospective, multicentre trial. Lancet Oncol 7:813-20.
- Gao WQ, Hatten ME. 1993. Neuronal differentiation rescued by implantation of Weaver granule cell precursors into wild-type cerebellar cortex. Science 260:367-9.
- Gao WQ, Hatten ME. 1994. Immortalizing oncogenes subvert the establishment of granule cell identity in developing cerebellum. Development 120:1059-70.
- Gaveriaux-Ruff C, Kieffer BL. 2007. Conditional gene targeting in the mouse nervous system: Insights into brain function and diseases. Pharmacol Ther 113:619-34.
- Gibson P, Tong Y, Robinson G, Thompson MC, Currle DS, Eden C, Kranenburg TA, Hogg T, Poppleton H, Martin J and others. 2010. Subtypes of medulloblastoma have distinct developmental origins. Nature 468:1095-9.
- Grammel D, Warmuth-Metz M, von Bueren AO, Kool M, Pietsch T, Kretzschmar HA, Rowitch DH, Rutkowski S, Pfister SM, Schüller U. 2012. Sonic hedgehogassociated medulloblastoma arising from the cochlear nuclei of the brainstem. Acta Neuropathol 123:601-14.
- Graus-Porta D, Blaess S, Senften M, Littlewood-Evans A, Damsky C, Huang Z, Orban P, Klein R, Schittny JC, Müller U. 2001. Beta1-class integrins regulate the development of laminae and folia in the cerebral and cerebellar cortex. Neuron 31:367-79.
- Grosche J, Kettenmann H, Reichenbach A. 2002. Bergmann glial cells form distinct morphological structures to interact with cerebellar neurons. J Neurosci Res 68:138-49.
- Hartmann W, Koch A, Brune H, Waha A, Schüller U, Dani I, Denkhaus D, Langmann W, Bode U, Wiestler OD and others. 2005. Insulin-like growth factor II is involved in the proliferation control of medulloblastoma and its cerebellar precursor cells. Am J Pathol 166:1153-62.
- Hatten ME. 1999. Central nervous system neuronal migration. Annu Rev Neurosci 22:511-39.
- Hatten ME. 2002. New directions in neuronal migration. Science 297:1660-3.
- Hatten ME, Heintz N. 1995. Mechanisms of neural patterning and specification in the developing cerebellum Annu Rev Neurosci 18:385-408.
- Ho KS, Scott MP. 2002. Sonic hedgehog in the nervous system: functions, modifications and mechanisms. Curr Opin Neurobiol 12:57-63.
- Hoser M, Baader SL, Bosl MR, Ihmer A, Wegner M, Sock E. 2007. Prolonged glial expression of Sox4 in the CNS leads to architectural cerebellar defects and ataxia. J Neurosci 27:5495-505.
- Hu P, Luo B-H. 2012. Integrin bidirectional signaling across the plasma membrane. Journal of cellular physiology.
- Hynes RO. 2002. Integrins: bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell 110:673-87.
- Kaatsch P, Rickert CH, Kuhl J, Schuz J, Michaelis J. 2001. Population-based epidemiologic data on brain tumors in German children. Cancer 92:3155-64.
- Klinowska TC, Soriano JV, Edwards GM, Oliver JM, Valentijn AJ, Montesano R, Streuli CH. 1999. Laminin and beta1 integrins are crucial for normal mammary gland development in the mouse. Dev Biol 215:13-32.
- Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones DT, Schlanstein M, Northcott PA, Cho YJ, Koster J, Schouten-van Meeteren A, van Vuurden D and others. 2012. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international meta-analysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. Acta Neuropathol 123:473-84.
- Kool M, Koster J, Bunt J, Hasselt NE, Lakeman A, van Sluis P, Troost D, Meeteren NS, Caron HN, Cloos J and others. 2008. Integrated genomics identifies five

medulloblastoma subtypes with distinct genetic profiles, pathway signatures and clinicopathological features. PLoS One 3:e3088.

- Lahlou H, Müller WJ. 2011. beta1-integrins signaling and mammary tumor progression in transgenic mouse models: implications for human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 13:229.
- Le Dreau G, Nicot A, Benard M, Thibout H, Vaudry D, Martinerie C, Laurent M. 2010. NOV/CCN3 promotes maturation of cerebellar granule neuron precursors. Mol Cell Neurosci 43:60-71.
- Li N, Zhang Y, Naylor MJ, Schatzmann F, Maurer F, Wintermantel T, Schuetz G, Mueller U, Streuli CH, Hynes NE. 2005. Beta1 integrins regulate mammary gland proliferation and maintain the integrity of mammary alveoli. EMBO J 24:1942-53.
- Liu S, Calderwood DA, Ginsberg MH. 2000. Integrin cytoplasmic domain-binding proteins. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 20):3563-71.
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, Scheithauer BW, Kleihues P. 2007. The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol 114:97-109.
- Machold R, Fishell G. 2005. Math1 is expressed in temporally discrete pools of cerebellar rhombic-lip neural progenitors. Neuron 48:17-24.
- Malatesta P, Hack MA, Hartfuss E, Kettenmann H, Klinkert W, Kirchhoff F, Gotz M. 2003. Neuronal or glial progeny: regional differences in radial glia fate. Neuron 37:751-64.
- Mao J, Ligon KL, Rakhlin EY, Thayer SP, Bronson RT, Rowitch D, McMahon AP. 2006. A novel somatic mouse model to survey tumorigenic potential applied to the Hedgehog pathway. Cancer Res 66:10171-8.
- Matei V, Pauley S, Kaing S, Rowitch D, Beisel KW, Morris K, Feng F, Jones K, Lee J, Fritzsch B. 2005. Smaller inner ear sensory epithelia in Neurog 1 null mice are related to earlier hair cell cycle exit. Dev Dyn 234:633-50.
- Miale IL, Sidman RL. 1961. An autoradiographic analysis of histogenesis in the mouse cerebellum. Exp Neurol 4:277-96.
- Misson JP, Edwards MA, Yamamoto M, Caviness VS, Jr. 1988. Identification of radial glial cells within the developing murine central nervous system: studies based upon a new immunohistochemical marker. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 44:95-108.
- Morello V, Cabodi S, Sigismund S, Camacho-Leal M, Repetto D, Volante M, Papotti M, Turco E, Defilippi P. 2011. β1 integrin controls EGFR signaling and tumorigenic properties of lung cancer cells. Oncogene 30:4087-4183.
- Naylor MJ, Li N, Cheung J, Lowe ET, Lambert E, Marlow R, Wang P, Schatzmann F, Wintermantel T, Schuetz G and others. 2005. Ablation of beta1 integrin in mammary epithelium reveals a key role for integrin in glandular morphogenesis and differentiation. J Cell Biol 171:717-28.
- Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Witt H, Hielscher T, Eberhart CG, Mack S, Bouffet E, Clifford SC, Hawkins CE, French P and others. 2011. Medulloblastoma comprises four distinct molecular variants. J Clin Oncol 29:1408-14.
- Owens DM, Watt FM. 2001. Influence of beta1 integrins on epidermal squamous cell carcinoma formation in a transgenic mouse model: alpha3beta1, but not alpha2beta1, suppresses malignant conversion. Cancer Res 61:5248-54.
- Palay SL, Chan-Palay V. 1974. Cerebellar cortex: cytology and organization: Springer.
- Park CC, Zhang H, Pallavicini M, Gray JW, Baehner F, Park CJ, Bissell MJ. 2006. Beta1 integrin inhibitory antibody induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells, inhibits growth, and distinguishes malignant from normal phenotype in three dimensional cultures and in vivo. Cancer Res 66:1526-35.
- Rabinovitz I, Nagle RB, Cress AE. 1995. Integrin alpha 6 expression in human prostate carcinoma cells is associated with a migratory and invasive phenotype in vitro and in vivo. Clin Exp Metastasis 13:481-91.

- Raghavan S, Bauer C, Mundschau G, Li Q, Fuchs E. 2000. Conditional ablation of beta1 integrin in skin. Severe defects in epidermal proliferation, basement membrane formation, and hair follicle invagination. J Cell Biol 150:1149-60.
- Rakic P, Sidman RL. 1973. Weaver mutant mouse cerebellum: defective neuronal migration secondary to abnormality of Bergmann glia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 70:240-4.
- Ramaswamy V, Northcott PA, Taylor MD. 2011. FISH and chips: the recipe for improved prognostication and outcomes for children with medulloblastoma. Cancer Genet 204:577-88.
- Ramnani N. 2006. The primate cortico-cerebellar system: anatomy and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:511-22.
- Rice DS, Curran T. 1999. Mutant mice with scrambled brains: understanding the signaling pathways that control cell positioning in the CNS. Genes Dev 13:2758-73.
- Rice DS, Curran T. 2001. Role of the reelin signaling pathway in central nervous system development. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:1005-39.
- Robel S, Mori T, Zoubaa S, Schlegel J, Sirko S, Faissner A, Goebbels S, Dimou L, Gotz M. 2009. Conditional deletion of beta1-integrin in astroglia causes partial reactive gliosis. Glia 57:1630-47.
- Roussel MF, Hatten ME. 2011. Cerebellum development and medulloblastoma. Curr Top Dev Biol 94:235-82.
- Roussel MF, Robinson G. 2011. Medulloblastoma: advances and challenges. F1000 Biol Rep 3:5.
- Rudin CM, Hann CL, Laterra J, Yauch RL, Callahan CA, Fu L, Holcomb T, Stinson J, Gould SE, Coleman B and others. 2009. Treatment of medulloblastoma with hedgehog pathway inhibitor GDC-0449. N Engl J Med 361:1173-8.
- Rutkowski S, Bode U, Deinlein F, Ottensmeier H, Warmuth-Metz M, Soerensen N, Graf N, Emser A, Pietsch T, Wolff JE and others. 2005. Treatment of early childhood medulloblastoma by postoperative chemotherapy alone. N Engl J Med 352:978-86.
- Sauer B, Henderson N. 1988. Site-specific DNA recombination in mammalian cells by the Cre recombinase of bacteriophage P1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:5166-70.
- Schüller U, Heine VM, Mao J, Kho AT, Dillon AK, Han YG, Huillard E, Sun T, Ligon AH, Qian Y and others. 2008. Acquisition of granule neuron precursor identity is a critical determinant of progenitor cell competence to form Shh-induced medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell 14:123-34.
- Schüller U, Zhao Q, Godinho SA, Heine VM, Medema RH, Pellman D, Rowitch DH. 2007. Forkhead transcription factor FoxM1 regulates mitotic entry and prevents spindle defects in cerebellar granule neuron precursors. Mol Cell Biol 27:8259-70.
- Schwander M, Leu M, Stumm M, Dorchies OM, Ruegg UT, Schittny J, Müller U. 2003. Beta1 integrins regulate myoblast fusion and sarcomere assembly. Dev Cell 4:673-85.
- Sottile V, Li M, Scotting PJ. 2006. Stem cell marker expression in the Bergmann glia population of the adult mouse brain. Brain Res 1099:8-17.
- Stephens LE, Sutherland AE, Klimanskaya IV, Andrieux A, Meneses J, Pedersen RA, Damsky CH. 1995. Deletion of beta 1 integrins in mice results in inner cell mass failure and peri-implantation lethality. Genes Dev 9:1883-95.
- Sternberg N, Hamilton D, Austin S, Yarmolinsky M, Hoess R. 1981. Site-specific recombination and its role in the life cycle of bacteriophage P1. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 45 Pt 1:297-309.
- Tanaka M, Yamaguchi K, Tatsukawa T, Theis M, Willecke K, Itohara S. 2008. Connexin43 and bergmann glial gap junctions in cerebellar function. Front Neurosci 2:225-33.

- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Remke M, Cho YJ, Clifford SC, Eberhart CG, Parsons DW, Rutkowski S, Gajjar A and others. 2012. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. Acta Neuropathol 123:465-72.
- Ten Donkelaar HJ, Lammens M. 2009. Development of the human cerebellum and its disorders. Clin Perinatol 36:513-30.
- von Bueren AO, von Hoff K, Pietsch T, Gerber NU, Warmuth-Metz M, Deinlein F, Zwiener I, Faldum A, Fleischhack G, Benesch M and others. 2011. Treatment of young children with localized medulloblastoma by chemotherapy alone: results of the prospective, multicenter trial HIT 2000 confirming the prognostic impact of histology. Neuro Oncol 13:669-79.
- Wang VY, Rose MF, Zoghbi HY. 2005. Math1 expression redefines the rhombic lip derivatives and reveals novel lineages within the brainstem and cerebellum. Neuron 48:31-43.
- Weaver V, Petersen O, Wang F, Larabell C, Briand P, Damsky C, Bissell M. 1997. Reversion of the malignant phenotype of human breast cells in threedimensional culture and in vivo by integrin blocking antibodies. J of Cell Biology 137:231-276.
- Wechsler-Reya RJ, Scott MP. 1999. Control of neuronal precursor proliferation in the cerebellum by Sonic Hedgehog. Neuron 22:103-14.
- Weinberg RA. 2007. The Biology of Cancer Garland Science, Taylor & Francis Group
- Welsch U. 2006. Sobotta Lehrbuch Histologie: Zytologie, Histologie, Mikroskopische Anatomie; mit 21 Tabellen: Elsevier, Urban & Fischer.
- Wewer UM, Shaw LM, Albrechtsen R, Mercurio AM. 1997. The integrin alpha 6 beta 1 promotes the survival of metastatic human breast carcinoma cells in mice. Am J Pathol 151:1191-8.
- Weyer A, Schilling K. 2003. Developmental and cell type-specific expression of the neuronal marker NeuN in the murine cerebellum. J Neurosci Res 73:400-9.
- White DE, Kurpios NA, Zuo D, Hassell JA, Blaess S, Mueller U, Müller WJ. 2004. Targeted disruption of beta1-integrin in a transgenic mouse model of human breast cancer reveals an essential role in mammary tumor induction. Cancer Cell 6:159-70.
- Wu X, Northcott PA, Dubuc A, Dupuy AJ, Shih DJ, Witt H, Croul S, Bouffet E, Fults DW, Eberhart CG and others. 2012. Clonal selection drives genetic divergence of metastatic medulloblastoma. Nature 482:529-33.
- Xie J, Murone M, Luoh SM, Ryan A, Gu Q, Zhang C, Bonifas JM, Lam CW, Hynes M, Goddard A and others. 1998. Activating Smoothened mutations in sporadic basal-cell carcinoma. Nature 391:90-2.
- Xu J, Millard M, Ren X, Cox OT, Erdreich-Epstein A. 2010. c-Abl mediates endothelial apoptosis induced by inhibition of integrins alphavbeta3 and alphavbeta5 and by disruption of actin. Blood 115:2709-18.
- Yao ES, Zhang H, Chen YY, Lee B, Chew K, Moore D, Park C. 2007. Increased beta1 integrin is associated with decreased survival in invasive breast cancer. Cancer Res 67:659-64.
- Zhuo L, Theis M, Alvarez-Maya I, Brenner M, Willecke K, Messing A. 2001. hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo. Genesis 31:85-94.
- Zutter MM, Santoro SA, Staatz WD, Tsung YL. 1995. Re-expression of the alpha 2 beta 1 integrin abrogates the malignant phenotype of breast carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:7411-5.

7. Acknowledgements

I am particularly grateful to PD Dr. med. Ulrich Schüller for his supervision during my doctoral thesis and for offering me such a fascinating subject. He always supported me with his great expertise, constructive criticism, constant help and as mentor in the academic life.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. med. Dr. h.c. H. A. Kretzschmar, the director of the Center for Neuropathology and Prion Research, for giving me the opportunity to work in a great scientific environment at this institution.

I am indebted to Michael Schmidt, Veronika Kaltenbrunn, and Silvia Occhionero for excellent technical support as well as to Dr. Mehdi Shakarami and Julia Geyer for animal husbandry. I want to thank Dr. Staffan Johansson (Uppsala University, Sweden) for providing β1-integrin antiserum and Dr. Rosalind Segal (Dana-Farber Cancer Insititute, Boston, USA) for providing anti-Zic1antibodies. I also want to thank PD Dr. Aurelia Peraud, Dr. André von Bueren, Prof. Dr. Jörg-Christian Tonn, Prof. Dr. Stefan Rutkowski and Prof. Dr. Jochen Herms for providing human tumor samples and clinical information.

Additionally, I want to thank the "Förderung für Forschung und Lehre" at LMU (FöFoLe) for the admission to the doctoral program "Molecular Medicine", under which this work was created.

My thanks go to all the doctoral students in the Schüller Lab for giving me advice and technical support. Especially, I want to thank Daniel Grammel, who patiently helped with the publication of this work.

Finally, I thank my family and particularly my parents with all my heart for their confidence, constructive support, encouragement and motivation at all time. They provided me an ideal environment for developing my interests in science. To them, I dedicate this thesis.